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Financial +

Operating -

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Summary of Operations
Net sales $999,078| $952983 $ 969,106  $1,157,660 $1,110,361
Product shipments (in millions of pounds) 695.8 694.0 6499 7325 759.9
Net income $ 45,381 $ 77992 $ 66955 $ 92690 $ 99,279
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.23] % 211 % 1.80 % 243 % 2.51
Significant Year-End Data
Cash and cash equivalents $ 255,088 $217,601 % 121,862 $ 100,268 $ 149,454
Ratio of current assets to current liabilities S.0to1 4.7 to 1 4.0t 1 3401 29101
Long—perm debt (including current portion) $ 14,272 $ 18,166 $ 50,973 $ 106,884 $ 149,870
Debt as a percent of total capitalization 1.7% 2.4% 7.0% 14.8% 20.8%
Stockholders' equity $ 814,858 $753,523 $ 672,933 $ 614,105 $ 569,430
Book value per share $ 2377 % 2200 % 2011 % 1841 % 16.31
Capital expenditures $ 27,236] $ 23265 % 46624 § 62876 $ 38272
Stockholders’ Equity Book Value Per Share
(doltars in millions) (in dollars)
$814.9 $23.77
$7535 | $22.00 |
$672.9 | $2011 |
$614.1 $18.41 |
$569.4 | 9 ———— $1631
|
$200  $400 $600 $800  $1,000 $5 810 $15 $20 825
Debt as a Percent of Total Capitalization Debt

(dollars in millions)

03 1.7% 03 2 5 143
02 fum 24% | 02 jm 5 182
01 em— 7.0% | 01— § 510
00— 148% | 00— $1069 |
99 _ 20.8% 3 99 — $1499 |

[ |
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Mueller’s results for 2003 were
reassuring, but not satisfying. We
were solidly profitable, our balance
sheet strengthened and our cash
flow was outstanding. However, we
were well below our targeted .
earnings for the year. Mueller’s
income from continuing operations
was $44.2 million in 2003 versus
$71.2 million for the prior year.
Earnings per diluted share from
continuing operations for 2003
were $1.19 compared with $1.92
for 2002. Mueller’s net sales
totaled $999 million compared with
$953 million the year before. And
pounds of product shipped totaled
696 million pounds compared with
694 million pounds in 2002.
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As 2003 commenced, our profit
margins, which had steadily
declined in 2002, continued their
downward tilt. This experience
generally mirrored the margin
declines that affected many U.S.
manufacturing companies.
Fortunately, the firsc quarter of
2003 turned out to be the
“bottom,” and as the year
progressed, there was a quarter-by-
quarter improvement in margins as
well as volume. Although the
improvement was gradual, the trend
line was positive, and has carried
over into 2004. Consequently, we
are hopeful that more normal
business conditions will prevalil
going forward.

Mueller’s Financial Condition
is Excellent

We ended the year with over
$250 million in cash and we are
virtually debt free as cash-on-hand
significantly exceeds total debt of
$14.3 million. Qur current ratio is
a formidable 5 to 1 and our
working capital is $457 million.

Cash provided by operations in
2003 was $73.4 million. We expect
to continue to generate a strong
positive cash flow, especially should
our operating results improve in 2004.
in November, we renewed our
credit facility with a syndicate of
commercial banks. The terms of
this facility are comparable to “A”
credit rated companies. This $150
million credit facility combined with
our cash balance, provides ample
capital to pursue growth
opportunities as they occur.

We are pleased to report that,
shortly after the end of the year, our
Board of Directors declared our
first regular quarterly cash dividend.
For stockholders of record on
March 1, 2004, ten cents per
common share is payable on
March 15, 2004. You should
receive this distribution about the
same time this report is distributed.

Standard Products

Copper tube spreads, after
several years of decline, increased
during the year. However, tube

Our Board of Directors declared
our first quarterly cash dividend in 2004
based on Mueller’s -

., strong

balance sheet and excellent cash flow.




volume decreased as we deliberately
emphasized price management.
Our consumption of scrap copper
was lower than we had projected as
the price differential to cathode
narrowed. Given the recent
volatility of copper prices, we
believe there may be opportunities
to increase scrap consumption,
which would provide raw material
cost savings.

Overall fittings volumes were up
due to the acquisition of the Fort
Pierce plastic operation that
occurred in late 2002. Our copper
fittings business yielded an excellent
return on invested capital on slightly
lower volume.

Our B&K operation enjoyed its
best year. We continued to grow
our share of the retail channe! with
both our manufactured products as
well as imported products.

Distribution costs climbed in
2003 as we added warehouse space
in order to aggressively maintain the
highest levels of customer service in
our industry.

At our European operations, we
enjoyed better volumes and margins
during 2003. By staying focused on
the U.K. market, we believe we have
better opportunities to improve our
results through increased market
share and broadening our product
offerings. We are confident in our
management team and look forward
to improving results in the future.

Industrial Products

The brass rod business was
difficult during 2003. Spreads and
volumes were lower than the prior
year as U.S. consumption remained
weak due to sluggish industrial and
commercial activity. Overall U.S.
consumption of brass rod was
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down approximately nine percent.
However, recently we have seen a
ramp up of customer orders in this
business, and that is an
encouraging development.

Our gas products business
enjoyed continued improvement as
many new customers now rely on us
to provide their component-part
requirements. Overstreet-Hughes,
which was acquired in 2002, has
not met our expectations and we
are reviewing our strategic options.

Business Outlook for 2004

The U.S. housing industry is
poised for another strong year in
2004. Housing starts in 2003
totaled 1.8 million units, and
housing economists are predicting a
similarly high number for 2004. In
addition, mortgage rates remain
extraordinarily attractive and
housing affordability statistics show
that more people than ever can
afford to buy homes.

Moreover, commercial
construction, which for the past
several years has been lagging, is
expected to rebound in 2004. This
is an important market for Mueller,
as it consumes many of our high
value-added products.

All of the above is in the context
of an improving national economy,
which, in the third quarter of 2003,
experienced the highest quarterly
growth rate in the past 20 years.

Obviously, the key for Mueller is
to achieve both added volume and
improved margins. Although no
one can predict how these factors
will play out in 2004, you can be
assured that Mueller is well
prepared to take advantage of the
opportunities that the marketplace
may offer. We have state-of-the-art

WILLIAM D. O’HAGAN

manufacturing facilities, a highly
efficient distribution system and
employees who are ambitious,
talented and dedicated to the
success of our Company.

Sincerely,

i 7 e

Harvey L. Karp
Chairman of the Board

A ADH

William D. O’Hagan
President and Chief Executive Officer

March 1, 2004
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Mississippi
Wynne,
Arkansas

Water tube, in straight lengths and coils, for plumbing
and construction

Dehydrated coils and nitrogen-charged straight lengths
for refrigeration and air-conditioning

Industrial tube, in straight lengths and level-wound
coils, for fittings, redraw, etc.

Line sets for controlling the flow of refrigerant gases

Plumbing wholesalers, home centers,
and hardware wholesalers and co-ops

Air-conditioning and refrigeration
wholesalers and OEMs
Mueller’s copper fittings plants and
OEMs

Wholesalers and OEMs

Fulton,
Mississippi

Covingron,
Tennessee

Port Huron,
Michigan

Over 1,500 wrot copper elbows, tees and adapters,
and assorted fittings for plumbing, heating,
air-conditioning, and refrigeration

Plumbing and air-conditioning
wholesalers, home centers,
hardware wholesalers and
co-ops, and OEMs

Kalamazoo,
Michigan

Cerritos,
California

Upper Sandusky,
Ohio

Fort Pierce,
Florida

A broad line of over 1,000 PVC and ABS plastic fittings
and valves for drainage, waste and ventilation, and
pressure applications in housing and commercial
construction, recreational vehicles, and manufactured
housing

Plumbing wholesalers, home
centers, hardware wholesalers
and co-ops, distributors to the
manufactured housing and
recreational vehicle industry,
and irrigation, pool and spa
distributors

Bilston,
Great Britain

Copper tube in various lengths, diameters, and
hardnesses for plumbing, refrigeration, and heating
Industrial tube for redraw, copper fittings, etc.

Builders’ merchants, plumbing,
refrigeration, and heating
wholesalers

OEMs

Elk Grove Village,
inois
(Import distributor)

Imports an extensive line of over 6,000 plumbing
products including valves, faucets, malleable iron pipe
fittings, steel nipples, and plumbing specialties

Building product retailers
Hardware co-ops and wholesalers
Plumbing wholesalers
Distributors to the manufactured
housing and recreational vehicle
industry
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Port Huron,
Michigan

Port Huron,
Michigan

Marysville,
Michigan

Brighton,
Michigan

Hartsville,
Tennessee

Carthage,
Tennessee

Jacksboro,
Tennessee

Waynesboro,
Tennessee

Middletown,
Ohio

North Wales,
Pennsylvania

A broad range of brass rod rounds, squares, hexagons, and

special shapes in free machining, thread rolling, and forging alloys
for numerous end products, including plumbing brass, valves and

fittings, and industrial machinery and equipment

OEMs, contract
machining companies
and distributors

Brass and aluminum hot forgings in various alloys for
plumbing brass, valves and fittings, and industrial machinery
and equipment

Cold-formed aluminum and copper products for automotive,
industrial, and recreational components

High volume machining of aluminum, steel, brass and cast iron,
forgings, impacts, and castings for automotive applications

Valves and custom OEM products for refrigeration and
air-conditioning applications

Custom valves and assemblies for the gas appliance
and barbecue grill markets

Shaped and formed tube, produced to tight tolerances, for
baseboard heating, appliances, medical instruments, etc.

OEMs and refrigeration
wholesalers
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(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001 2000
INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Net sales $ 999,078 $ 952,983 $ 969,106 $1,157,660
Cost of goods sold 815,849 744,781 740,366 887,635
Gross profit 183,229 208,202 228,740 270,025
Depreciation and amortization 38,954 37,440 39,461 34,043
Selling, general, and administrative expense 94,891 85,006 83,750 90,344
Operating income 49,384 85,756 105,529 145,638
[nterest expense (1,168) (1,460) (3,311) (8,623)
Environmental expense (1,165) (1,639) (3,600) (2,049)
Other income, net 4,385 5,810 5,787 9,115
income from continuing operations

before income taxes 51,436 88,467 104,405 144,081
Income tax expense (7,215) (17,290) (38,982) (51,096)
Net income from continuing operations 44221 71,177 65,423 92,985
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 1,160 6,815 1,532 (295)
Net income $ 45,381 $ 77,992 $ 66,955 . $ 92,690
Adjusted weighted average shares (000) 36,861 37,048 37,245 38,096
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.23 $ 2.11 $ 1.80 $ 2.43

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Cash and cash equivalents $ 255,088 $ 217,601 $ 121,862 $ 100,268
Current assets 570,355 500,347 403,913 405,171
Working capital 456,849 393,996 302,425 287,322
Total assets 1,055,184 987,947 916,065 910,276
Current liabilities 113,506 106,351 101,488 117,849
Debt 14,272 18,166 50,973 106,884
Stockholders' equity 814,858 753,523 672,933 614,105

SELECTED OPERATING DATA

Cash provided by operations $ 73,416 $ 124,217 $ 121,453 $ 120,619
Capital expenditures $ 27,236 $ 23,265 $ 46,624 $ 62,876
Number of employees 3,525 3,575 3,420 3,965
Current ratio 5.0to1 4.7 to 1 4.0to 1 34t01
Return on average equity 5.8% 10.9% 10.4% 15.7%
Debt to total capitalization 1.7% 2.4% 7.0% 14.8%
Qutstanding shares (000) 34,276 34,257 33,467 33,358

Book value per share $ 2377 $ 22.00 $ 20 $ 1841
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1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
$1,110,361 $ 854,030 $ 843,545 $ 709,850 $ 670,581 $ 545136
840,364 657,664 665,874 555,570 550,846 451,983

269,997 196,366 177,671 154,280 119,735 93,153

32,901 21127 19,311 18,317 15,308 12,456

91,420 69,784 60,294 53,670 48,416 43,969

145,676 105,455 98,066 82,293 56,011 36,728

(11,090) (5,517) (4,920) (5,153) (3,922) (4,414)

- (2,133) (3,100) (2,045) (1,427) (2,914)
8,317 6,492 7,306 4,125 5,058 3,480

142,903 104,297 97,352 79,220 55,726 32,880
~(43,541) (30,309) (28,338) (23,862) (16,441) (9,846)

99,362 73,988 69,014 55,358 39,285 23,034

(83) 1,457 756 5,815 5,538 4,892
$ 99,279 $ 75,445 $ 69,770 $ 61173 $ 44,823 $ 27,926

39,605 39,644 39,250 38,993 38,298 39,560
$ 2.51 $ 1.90 $ 1.78 $ 1.57 $ 117 $ 0.71
$ 149,454 $ 80,568 § 69,978 $ 96,956 $ 48,357 § 34492

440,746 382,324 309,051 274,712 211,038 183,551

287,685 239,750 208,494 195,756 143,154 116,330

904,080 874,694 610,776 509,357 ' 450,835 430,755

153,061 142,574 100,557 78,956 67,884 67,221

149 870 194,549 72,093 59,650 75,902 94,736

569,430 502,122 418,040 348,082 285,875 241,948
$ 164,869 $ 91,508 $ 66,131 $ 71,631 $ 49,052 $ 15,567
$ 38,272 $ 45,639 $ 33,396 $ 17,182 § 40,663 $ 48,097
: 4,048 4,340 2,961 2,290 2,227 2,206

2.9t0 1 27to1 37t01 3501 31t01 2.7t

18.5% 16.4% 18.2% 19.3% 17.0% 12.0%
20.8% 27.9% 14.7% 14.6% 21.0% 28.1%
34,919 35,808 35,017 34,870 34,699 34,796

$ 16.31 $ 14.02 $ 11.94 $ 9.98 $ 8.24 $ 6.95
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share data)

2003 2002 2001 2000 ' 1999
For the fiscal year:
Netsales(l) .. . C 8 999,078 $ 952,983 S 969,106 § 1,157,660 S 1,110,361
Operating income (1) 49,384 85,756 105,529 < 145,638 145,676
- Net income from
_continuing operations 44,221 177 65,423 92,985 - 99,362
Diluted earnings per share
from continuing
operations 1.19 1.92 1.76 2.44 ' 2.51
At year-end:
Total assets 1,055,184 987,947 916,065 . 910276 904,080
Long-term debt . 11,437 14,005 46,977 . 100,975 118,858 .

(1)  From continuing operations -




FINANCIAL REVIEW

OVERVIEW

Mueller Industries, Inc. is a leading manufacturer of copper tube.and fittings; brass and copper alloy rod, bar
and shapes; aluminum and brass forgings; aluminum and copper impact extrusions; plastic fittings and valves;
refrigeration valves and fittings; and fabricated tubular products. Mueller's operations are located throughout the
United States and in Canada, Mexico, and Great Bmam

The Company's businesses are managed and organized into two segments: (i) Standard Products Division
(SPD) and (ii) Industrial Products Division (IPD). SPD manufactures and sells copper tube, and copper and plastic
fittings and valves. Outside of the United States, SPD manufactures copper tube in Europe. SPD selis these products
to wholesalers in the HVAC (heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning), plumbing and refrigeration markets, to
distributors to the manufactured housing and recreational vehicle industries, and to building material retailers. I1PD
manufactures and sells brass and copper alloy rod, bar, and shapes; aluminum and brass forgings; aluminum and
copper impact extrusions; refrigeration valves and fittings; fabricated tubular products; and gas valves and
assemblies. IPD sells its products primarily to original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), many of which are in the
HVAC, plumbing and refrigeration markets.

New housing starts and commercial construction are important determinants of the Company's sales to the
HVAC, refrigeration and plumbing markets because the principal end use of a significant portion of the Company's
products is in the construction of single and multi-family housing and commercial buildings. Repairs and
remodeling projects are also important drivers of underlying demand for these products.

Profitability of cértain of the Company's product lines depends upon the "spreads” between the cost of raw
material and the selling prices of its completed products. The open market prices for copper cathode and scrap, for
example, influence the selling price of copper tubing, a principal product manufactured by the Company. The
Company attempts to minimize the effects of fluctuations in material costs by passing through these costs to its
customers. The Company’s earnings and cash flow are dependent upon these spreads that fluctuate based upon
market conditions.

Eamings and profitability is also subject to market trends such as substitute products and imports. Plastic
plumbing systems are the primary substitute product; these products represent an increasing share of consumption.
Imports of copper tubing from Mexico have increased in recent years, although U.S. consumption is still
predominantly supplied by U.S. manufacturers.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2003 Performance Compared with 2002

Consolidated net sales in 2003 were $999.1 million, a 4.8 percent increase over net sales of $953.0 million
in 2002. Pounds of product sold totaled 695.8 million in 2003 compared with 694.0 million pounds sold in 2002.
Net selling prices generally fluctuate with changes in raw material prices. The COMEX average copper price in
2003 was approximately 80 cents per pound, or 13 percent more than the 2002 average of 71 cents. This change
impacted the Company's net sales and cost of goods sold, particularly in the later part of the year as COMEX steadily
climbed, ending the year at $1.04 per pound.

Cost of goods sold increased $71.1 million, to $815.8 million in 2003. This increase was attributable
primarily to higher raw material costs. Gross profit was $183.2 million or 18.3 percent of net sales in 2003 compared
with $208.2 million or 21.8 percent of net sales in 2002. The decline in gross profit was due to lower spreads in core
product lines, primarily copper tube, fittings, and brass rod. The quarterly gross profit trend bottomed out in the first
quarter and steadily improved throughout the year. '

Depreciation and amortization increased to $39.0 million in 2003 from $37.4 million in 2002; the increase
was due to capital expenditures. Selling, general, and administrative expense increased to $94.9 million in 2003; this .
increase was due to (i) higher distribution costs related to expansion of dedicated warehousing, (ii) health and
medical benefit plans, (iii) pension costs, and (iv) additional provisions for doubtful accounts.




FINANCIAL REVIEW

+ Interest expense decreased to.$1.2 million in 2003 from $1.5 million in 2002. This decrease was primarily
duc-to debt reductions.” Environmental expense totaled $1.2 'million in 2003 compared with $1.6 million in 2002.
Other income was slightly lower due to lower interest income yields on invested cash balances.

Income tax expense declined substantially to $7.2 million, for an effective rate of 14 percent, due to the
recognition of a deferred income tax benefit. ‘During the third quarter of 2003, the Company recognized a deferred
income tax benefit, 'upon the closure of the.open tax year, by reducing a valuation allowance of $9.3 million related
to an operating loss resulting from the 1999 sale of a sub51d1ary Realization of the tax benefit occurred during.the
year of sale, :

During 2002, the Company sold its wholly owned subsidiary, Utah Railway Company, and initiated steps to
sell or liquidate it$ -French. manufacturing operations, Mueller Europe S.A. The Company expects no further
obligations or. contingencies from these discontinued operations :and, therefore, durmg 2003 it recognized a $1.7
million gain to reflect adjustments to the. prevxous estimates on dnsposxt\on

The Company S employment was approx1mately 3,500 at the end of 2003 compared wnh 3,600 at the end of
- 2002. .

Standard Products Dlwswn

Nt sales by SPD were $718 million in 2003 compared wnh $679 million in 2002 for a 5 6 percent increase.
Operating income was $54.1 million in 2003 compared with $79.0 million in 2002. The decline in operating profit
was due to lower spreads in certain product lines, primarily copper tube and fittings, and increased distribution costs.

Industrial Products Division

IPD's net sales were $292 million in 2003 compared with $280 miilion in-2002. Operating income ‘was
$11.7 million in 2003 compared with $20.4 million in" 2002.. Brass rod earnings. declined on lower volume and
spreads. - The division’s. results also declined due to poor performance-of certain product lines. including Overstreet-
Hughes, Co., Inc. (Overstreet-Hughes). The results of Overstreet-Hughes, which manufactures precision tubular
components and assemblies primarily for the OEM air-conditioning market, did not meet expectation during 2003;
the Company is evaluating alternatives to improve performance to an acceptable level. If the Company is unable to
achieve improvements, a write-down of these assets could be necessary in the future. ’

2002 Performance Compared with 2001 B " ’ .

- Consolidated net sales in 2002 were $953 miilion, I. 7 percent less than net sales of $969 million in 2001.
Pounds.of product sold totaled 694 million in 2002 or 6.8 percent more than the 650 million pounds sold in 2001
This increase in pounds sold was primarily attributable to the brass rod business. The COMEX dverage copper.price
in 2002 was approximately 1.2 percent: ]ess than the 2001 average Thxs change 1mpacted the Company's net sales
and cost of goods sold. .

Cost of goods sold increased $4.4 million, to $745 million in 2002. This ificrease was attributable to
increased volumes. Gross profit was $208 million or 21.8 percent of net sales in 2002 compared with $229 million
or 23.6 percent.of net sales i in 2001. The decline in gross profit.was due to lower spreads in certain product lines,
pnmanly copper tube. - b - SR o

Depreciation and amortization decreased to $37.4 million in 2002 from $39.5 million in 2001. The decrease
was due primarily to discontinuing goodwill amortizationi; totaling $4.4 million.in 2001, -in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Selling, general and
admlmstratwe expense mcreased 1.5 percent to $85.0 million.in 2002 reflecting mcreased volume




FINANCIAL REVIEW

Interest expense decreased to $1.5 million in 2002 from $3.3 million in 2001. This decrease was primarily
due to debt reductions. No interest was cdpitalized during 2002, whereas $1.4 million of interest was capitalized on
major capital improvement projects in 2001.- Environmental expense totaled $1.6 million in 2002 compared with
$3.6 million in 2001. Other income remained flat at $5.8 million in 2002 and 2001.

During 2002 the Company sold its wholly owned subsidiary, Utah Rallway Company, to Genessee &
Wyoming Inc. Proceeds from the sale were $55.4 million. The Company recognized a gain of $21.1 million, net of -
income taxes of $11.6 million, from the sale. Also during 2002, the Company- initiated steps to sell or liquidate its
French manufacturing operations, Mueller Europe S.A. The Company recognized a loss of $13.4 million, net of
$15.2 million income tax benefit, to write-down the value of the French business to its net realizable value.

The Company provided $17.3 million for income taxes attributable to continuing operations in 2002, of
which $9.7 milion was deferred. The sale of Utah Railway Company enabled the Company to utilize previously
unrecognized capital loss carryforwards. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards.No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, the recognition of this capital Joss carryforward benefit of $12.7 million was classified
as a reduction 1o current-income taxes on continuing operations. Current income tax expense of $7.6 million reflects
the benefit of recognizing this capita) loss carryforward. The 2002 effective tax rate was 19.5 percent while the 2001 -
rate was 37.3 percent.

The Company's employment at its ongoing operations was approximately 3,600 at the end of 2002. This
compares with approxlmately 3,400 at the 2001 year-end." This increase is attributable to acquisitions.

Stan dard Products Division

Net sales by SPD were $679 million in 2002 .compared with $722 million in 2001 for a 6 percent decrease.
Operating income was $79.0 million in 2002 compared with $105 million in 2001, The decliné in operating profit
was due to lower spreads in certain -product lines, primarily copper tube. In September 2002, the Company acquired
certain assets of Colonial Engineering, Inc.’s Fort Pierce, Florida operations. These operations manufacture injected
molded plastic pressure. fittings for plumbing, agricultural, and industrial use including a line of PVC Schedule 40
and - 80 and CPVC fittings. These operations generated sales of approxxmately $15 million in 2001.. Total
consideration paid was approxxmately $14.1 million.

Industrial Products Division

IPD's net sales were $280 million in 2002 compared with $252 million in 2001. Operating income was
$20.4 million in 2002 compared with $17.5 million in 2001. Volume increases were responsible for the increase in
2002 earnings.” In August 2002, the Company acquired 100 percent of the outstanding.stock of Overstreet-Hughes.
Overstreet-Hughes, located in Carthage, Tennessee, manufactures precision tubular components and assemblies
primarily for the OEM air-conditioning market. and had sales in 2001 of approximately $8 million. Total
consideration paid at closing, including assumption.of debt, was approximately $6.3 million. A contingent payment
of up to $2 million will be paid if certain financial targets are achieved.

L1QuIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance increased to $255.1 million at year-end. Major
components of the 2003 change included $73.4 million of cash provided by operating activities, $36.2 million of
cash used in investing activities and $3.5 million of cash used in financing activities.

Net income from continuing operations of $44.2 million in 2003 was the primary component of cash
provided by operating activities. Depreciation and amortization -of $39.0 million were the primary non-cash
adjustments. Major changes in working capital included a $34.0 million increase in trade accounts receivable due to
better volumes and higher raw material costs in the fourth quarter of 2003 compared with the fourth quarter of 2002.




FINANCIAL REVIEW

The major components of net cash used for investing activities during.2003 included $27.2 million used for
capital expenditures and $10.8 million used for acquiring an additional equity interest in Conbraco Industries, Inc.
Conbraco, headquartered in Matthews, North Carolina, is a manufacturer of flow control products including Apollo®
ball valves, automation products, backflow preventers, butterfly valves, check valves, investment cast steel products,
marine valves, safety relief valves, strainers and plumbing and heating products for commercial and industrial
applications. The $10.8 million investment, made at the beginning of the year, increased the Company’s interest in
Conbraco to approximately 34 percent.

‘Net cash used in financing activities totaled $3.5 million consisting primarily of $3.9 million for debt
repayments pamally offset by proceeds from the sale of treasury stock.

.The Company has a $150 million unsecured line-of-credit (Credit Facility) which expires in November
2006. At year-end, the Company had no borrowings against the Credit Facility. Approximately $7.2 million in
letters of credit were backed by the Credit Facility at the end of 2003. At December 27, 2003, the Company’s total
debt was $14.3 million or 2 percent of its total capitalization.

Covenants contained in the Company’s financing obligations require, among other things, the maintenance
of minimum levels of working capital, tangible net worth, and debt service coverage ratios. At December 27, 2003
the Company was in cofnpliance with all of its debt covenants.

The Company expects-to invest between $20 and $25 million for capital expenditures during 2004.

Contractual cash.obligations of the Company-at December 27, 2003 included the following:

- Payments Due by Year

(In milliorgs): ‘ ‘.'A ' Total 2004 2005-2006 2007-2008 - Thereafter
Loﬁg—tér'm debt, including ; _ , .
capital lease obligations $ 14.3 3 2.8 $ 0.7 $ 0.5 3 10.3
Operating leases | A 22.4 . 6.6 8.4 5.6 1.8
Puyghase commitments (a) 143.3 143.3 - - -
TQtaI contractual cash obligations $ 180.0 § 1527 $ 9.1 $ 6.1 b 12.1

’l

(a) Purchase commitments include $17.7 million of open fixed pﬁce purchases of raw materials. Additionally, the
Company has. contractual supply commitments, totaling. $125.6 million at year-end prices, for raw materials
consumed in the ordinary course of business; these contracts contain variable pricing based upon COMEX.

The above obligations will be satisfied with existing cash (which net of indebtedness is $240.1 million), and
cash generated by operations. Additionally, the cash flow to fund pension and OPEB obligations is insignificant.
During 2003, funded pension assets recovered a significant portion of market value declines experienced in 2002 and
-2001. The Company has no off-balance sheet financing arrangements except for the operating leases identified
above .

Fluctuatlons in the cost of copper and other raw materials affect. the Company s liquidity. Changes in
material costs directly impact components of working capital, primarily inventories and accounts receivable.. Since
the end of‘the third quarter of 2003, there has been a significant increase in COMEX copper prices. From the
September 30, 2003 close through late February of 2004, the cost has risen to approximately $1.30 per pound, or
approximately 60 percent. This rise in the price of cathode has also resulted in sharp increases in the open market
price for copper scrap and, to a lesser extent, the price of brass scrap.
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Subsequent to year-end the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly dividend of 10 cents
per share on its common stock. - Payment of dividends in the future is dependent upon the (ompanv s ﬁnancxal
condition, cash flows, capital requirements, earnings, and other factors.: o

Management believes that cash provided by operations and currently available cash of $255.1 million will
be adequate to meet the Company’s normal future capital expenditure and operational needs. The Company’s current
ratio was 5 to 1 at December 27, 2003.

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase until October 2004 of up to ten million
shares of the Company’s common stock through open market transactions or through privately negotiated
transactions. The Company has no obligation to purchase any shares and may cancel, suspend, or extend the time
period for the purchase of shares at any time. Any purchases will be funded primarily through existing cash and cash
from operations. The Company may hold any shares purchased in treasury or use a portion of the repurchased shares
for employee benefit plans, as well as for other corporate purposes. Through December 27,2003, the Company had
repurchased approximately 2.4 million shares under this authorization.

Environmental Matters

The Company ended 2003 with total environmental reserves of approximately $9.6 million. Based upon
information currently available, management believes that the outcome of pending environmental matters will not
materially affect the overall financial position and results of operations of the Company.

MARKET RISKS

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange, raw material costs, and
energy costs. To reduce such risks, the Company may periodically use financial instruments. All hedging transactions
are authorized and executed pursuant to policies and procedures. Further, the Company does not buy or sell financial
instruments for trading purposes. A discussion of the Company’s accounting for derivative instruments and hedging
activities is included in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

- Foreign currency exposures arising from transactions include firm commitments and ant'icipated transactions
denominated in a currency other than an entity’s functional currency. The Company and its subsidiaries generally
enter into transactions denominated in their respective functional currencies. Foreign currency exposures arising
from transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are not material; however, the
Company may utilize certain forward fixed-rate contracts to hedge such transactional exposures.  Gains and losses
with respect to these positions are deferréd in’ stockholders’ equity as’'a component of comprehensive income and
reflected in earriings upon collection of receivables. - At year-end, the Company had no open forward contracts to .
exchange foreign currencies.

The Company’s primary foreign currency exposure arises from foreign-denominated revenues and profits
and their translation into U.S. dollars. The primary currencies to” which the Company is exposed include the
Canadian dollar, the British pound sterling, the Euro, and the Mexican peso. The Company generally views as long-
term its investments in foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar. As a result, the
Company generally does not hedge these net investments. The net investment in foreign subsidiaries translated into
U.S. dollars using the year-end- exchange rates was $60.6 million at December 27, 2003 and $73.6 million at
December 28, 2002. The potential loss in valie of the Company’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries resulting
from a hypothetical 10 percent adverse change in quoted foreign currency exchange rates at December 27, 2003 and
December 28, 2002 amounted to $6.1 million and $7.6 million, respectively. Thls change would be Teflected in the
equity section of the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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Cost and Availability of Raw Materials and Energy

Copper and brass represent the largest component of the Company’s variable costs of production. The cost
of these materials is subject to global market fluctuations caused by factors beyond the Company’s control.
Significant increases in the cost of metal, to the extent not reflected in prices for the Company’s finished products, or
-the lack of. availability could materially and adversely affect the Company s business, results of operations and
ﬁnanmal condition. :

The Companyboccasionally enters into forward fixed-price arrangements with certain customers. The
Company may utilize forward contracts to hedge risks associated with forward fixed-price arrangements. The
Company may also utilize forward contracts to manage price risk associated with inventory. Gains or losses with
respect to these positions are deferred in stockholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive income and reflected
in earnings upon the sale of inventory. Periodic value fluctuations of the contracts generally offset the value
fluctuations of the underlying fixed-price transactions or inventory. At year-end, the Company held open forward
contracts to purchase approximately $1.0 miflion of copper over the next 12 months.

Futures contracts may also be used to manage price risk associated with natural gas purchases. Gains and
losses with respect to these positions are deferred in stockholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive income
and reflected in earnings upon consumption of natural gas. Periodic value fluctuations of the contracts generally
offset -the value fluctuations. of the underlying natural gas prices. At year-end, the Company held open hedge
forward contracts to purchase approximately $1.0 mitlion of natural gas over the next three months,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared-in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.- Application of these principles requires the Company to make estimates,
assumptions, and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Management
believes the most complex and sensitive judgments, because of their significance to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, result primarily from the need to make estimates about the effects of matters which are inherently
uncertain. The accounting policies and estimates that are most critical to aid in understanding and evaluating the
results.of operations and financial position of the Company include the following:

Inventory Valuation -

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The most significant component of the Company’s
inventory is copper; the domestic copper inventories are valued under the LIFO method. The market price of copper
cathode and scrap are subject to volatility. During periods.when open market prices decline below net book value,
the Company may need to provide an allowance to reduce the carrying value of its inventory. In addition, certain
items‘in inventory may be considered obsolete and, as such, the Company may establish-an allowance to reduce the
carrymg value of those items to their net realizable value. Changes in these ‘estimates related to the value of
inventory, if any, may result in a materially adverse or positive impact.on the Company’s réported financial position
or results of operations. The Company recognizes the impact of any changes in estimates, assumptions, and
]udgments in income in the period in which it is determmed ‘

Deferred Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized on the difference ‘between the financial statement and the
tax law treatment of certain items. Realization of certain components of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
occurrence of future events. ‘The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferréd tax asset to the
amount it believes is more likely than not to be realized. These valuation allowances can be impacted by changes in
tax laws; changes to statutory tax rates, and future taxable income levels and are based on the Company’s judgment,
estimates, and assumptions regarding those future-events. In the event the Company were to determine that it would
not be able to realize all or a portion of the net deferred tax assets in the future, the Company would increase the
valuation allowance through a charge to income in the period that such determination is made. Conversely, if the
Company were to determine that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future, in excess of the net
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carrying amounts, the Company would decrease the recorded valuation allowance through an increase to’income in
the period that such determination is made.

Environmental Reserves

The Company recognizes an environmental liability when it is probable the liability exists and the amount is
reasonably estimable. The Company estimates the duration and extent of its remediation obligations based upon
reports of outside consultants, internal analyses of clean-up costs and ongoing monitoring, communications with
regulatory agencies, and changes in environmental law. If the Company were to determine that its estimates of the
duration or extent of its environmental obligations were no longer accurate, the Company would .adjust its
environmental liabilities accordingly in the period that such determination is made. . :

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company provides an allowance for receivables that may not be fully collected. In circumstances
where the Company is aware of a customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations (i.e., bankruptcy filings or
substantial down-grading of credit ratings), it records a reserve for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the net
recognized receivable to the amount it believes most likely will be collected. For all other customers, the Company
recognizes reserves for bad debts based on its historical collection experience. If circumstances change (i.e., greater
than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet- its financial
obligations), the Company’s estimates of the recoverability of amounts due could be reduced by a material amount.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No.
149, An Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, in April 2003 and Statement
of Financial Accounting Standard No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of
both Liabilities and Equity in May 2003, revised Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 132, Employers’
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits — an-amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88 and
106, in December 2003, and revised FASB Interpretation No. 46, Variable Interest Entities, (the Statements). The
provisions of these Statements, which are currently not applicable to the Company, became, or will become, effective
in whole or in part at various times in 2003 and thereafter. These Statements will be considered and adopted, where
and when applicable, by the Company at the appropriate future point in time. None of the Statements had a
significant effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company reported in the accompanying
~Consolidated Financial Statements.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Annual Report contains various forward-looking statements and includes assumptions: concerning the
Company’s operations, -future results and prospects. These forward-looking statements are based on . current
expectations and are subject to risk and uncertainties. In connection with the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company provides the following cautionary statement identifying
important economic, political, and technological factors, among others, the absence of which could cause actual
results or events to differ materially from those set forth in or implied by the forward-looking statements and related
assumptions. ' -

Such factors include: (i) the current and projected future business environment, including interest rates and
capital and consumer spending; (ii) the domestic housing and commercial construction industry environment; (iii)
availability and price fluctuations in commodities (including copper, natural gas, and other raw materials, including
crude oil that indirectly effects plastic resins); (iv) competitive factors and competitor responses to the. Company’s
initiatives; (v) stability of government laws and regulations, including taxes; and (vi) continuation of the environment
to make acquisitions, domestic and foreign, including regulatory requirements and market values of candidates.

f




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended Decembgr 27, 2003, December 28, 2002, and December 29;:2001

. (In thousands, except per share data) ‘ 2003 2002 2001
Net sales ' § 999,078 $ 952,983 969,106
Cost of goods sold 815,849 744,781 740,366
Gross profit ) 183,229 208,202 228,740
Depreciation and amortization o 38,954, 37,440 39,461
Selling, general, and administrative expense 94,891 85,006 83,750
Operating income ' 49384 85,756 105,529
Interest expense o (1,168) (1,460) (3,311)
Environmental expense (1,165) (1,639) {(3,600)
Other income, net : 4,385 5,810 5,787
Income from continuing operations ‘
before income taxes ] 51,436 88,467 104,405
Income tax expense : i (7,215) (17,290) (38,982)
Income from continuing operations ‘ 44221 - ARYE 65,423
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes: '
Income (loss) from operation of
discontinued operations . (539) (886) 1,532
Gain on disposition of
discontinued operations , 1,699 o 7,701 -
Net income . 8 45,381 $ 77,992 66,955
Weighted average shares for basic .
eamnings per share : S . To34264 33,993 33,409
Effect of dilutive stock options ) C 2,597 3,055 3,836
Adjusted weighted average shares for - . '
diluted earnings per share 36,861 37,048 37,245
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
From continuing operations : $ 1.29 $ 2.09 1.96
From discontinued operations _ (0.02) (0.03) 0.04
From gain on disposition of : ' )
discontinued operations , 0.05 0.23 -
Basic earnings per share 3 1.32 $ 2.29 2.00
Diluted earnings (loss) per share: ‘
From continuing operations - $ : 1.19 $ 1.92 1.76
From discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) 0.04
From gain on disposition of . :
discontinued operations 0.05 0.21 -
Diluted ealm‘ings per share ' $ 1.23 $ 2.11 1.80

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December:27, 2003 and December 28, 2002

(In thousands)
Assets
Current asscts
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful

accounts of $4,734 in 2003 arid $6,443 in 2002

Inventories

-"Current deferred income taxes

Other current assets
Total current assets

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Goodwill, net
Other assets

Total Assets

2003 2002
S 255088 8 217,600
163,006 132,427
140,548 142,953

9,035 4,506

2678 2,860

570,355 500,347
345,537 352,469
104,849 105,551
34,443 29,580

$ 1,055,184 987,947

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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P CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS .
e - Asof December 27_, 2003 and December.28,.2002

(In thousands, except share'data) : 2003 2002
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity v
Current liabilities o
Current portion of long-term debt . : . RS T 2,835 4,161
Accounts payable ' . 42,081 41,004
Accrued wages and other employee costs’ : - 25,631 26,199
Other current liabilities 42,959 34,987
Total current liabilities. 113,506 106,351
Long-term debt, less current portion oo 11,437 14,005
Pension liabilities . _ . 18,077 22,364
Postretirement benefits other than pensions 13,566 - 13,186 L
Environmental reserves = » _ 9,560 9,110 “ =
Deferred income taxes B L . , 63,734 59,269
Other noncurrent liabilities 10,238 9,718
Total liabilities - _ 240,118 234,003
Minority interest in subsidiaries ' 208 © 421
Stockholders' equity ) , :
Preferred stock - shares,authorized 4,985,000; none outstanding R -
Series A junior pamiéipating preferred stock - $1.00 par value;
shares authorized 15,000; none outstanding - -
Common Stéck - $.01 par value; shares authon’zed‘l 00,000,000;
© issued 40,091,502; outstanding 34,276,343 .

‘ in 2003 and 34,257,4191n 2002 . e 401 ~ 401
Additional paid-in capital, common . : 259,110 258,939
Retained earnings 655,495 610,114
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,586) . (21,133)
Treasury common stock, at cost ' : (94,562) (94,798)-

Total stockholders' équity ) 8i4,858 753,523
Commitments and contingencies ‘ ' : k - . -
Total Liabilities aﬁd’St‘ockholderS' Equity o ‘ $ 1,055,184 987,947 B

* See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. * -




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Years Ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Treasury Stock

Number Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Number
(In thousands) . . of Shares  Amount Capital Earnings income (Loss) of Shares Cost Tota)
Balance, December 30, 2000 40,092 % 401 $. 260979 § 465,167 3 (11,826) 6,734 $ (100,016 $ 614,105
Compreheasive income: , .
Net income ) - - - 66,955 " - - - 66,955
Othéer comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation ’ - - - - (4,564) - - (4.564)
Minimum pension tability ' : . '

adjustment, net of applicable income tax

benefit of 1,165 ] - - - ‘ - (4,370) - - (4,370)
Cumulative effect of change in ' ’

accounting for derivative

financial instruments, net of ) .

applicable income taxes of $75 - - ' - - 122 - - 122

Change in fair value of derivatives,
net of applicable income tax benefit of §1,414 - - - - (2,306) ) - - {2,306)

Losses reclassified into earnings from
other comprehensive income, net

of applicable income tax benefit of $356 - - - - 906 - - 906
Comprehensive income ) - : : 56,743
Issuance of shares under incentive stack option plan - - 312 - oo (109) 1,417 1,729
Tax benefit related to employee stock options : - - 356 ' - i - - - 356
Balance, December 29, 2001 ) . 49,092 401 ‘261,647 §32,122 (22,038) ‘ 6,625 (99,199) 672,933 .

Comprehensive income:

Net income ) - - - - 717,992 : s - - 77,992
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation ) ’ - - - - 10,706 - - 10,706
Minimum pension liability adjustment; - . ’
net of applicable income taxes of $1,153 - - - - (12,747) - - (12,747)
Change in fair value of derivatives, ‘ ’
net of applicable income tax benefit of $386 - : - .- - (630) - - - (630)
Losses reclassified into earnings from ) ’ . ’
other comprehensive income, net )
of applicable income tax benefit of $685 . C - - - - 3,576 - - 3,576
Comprehensive income ) 78,897
Issuance of shares under incentive stock option plan - - (15,951) - - (1,247 19,155 3,204
Repurchase of common stock - - - - - 456 (14,754) (14,754)
Tax benefit related to employee stock options C - - 13.243 . - - - - 13.243
Balance, December 28, 2002 40,092 401 258,939 610,114 (21,133) 5,834 (94,798) 753,523

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Years Ended December 27, 2003, December 28,2002, and December 29, 2001

o Accumulated

Common Stock

:

Treasury Stock |

Additionat Other
Number Paid-in Retained Comprehensive”  Number .
(In thousands) of Shares Amount Capital Earnings 'lnéSrrie (Loss) " of Shares Cost Total
Balance, Decembér 28, 2002 40,092 § 401 $ 258939 % - 6l0,114 § (21.133) 5834 §.(94,798) § 7533523
Comprehensive income:
Net income - - - 45,381" - - - 45,381
Other comphr"eh'e‘nsive income: A ! )
Foreign currency translation - . - \ ~ 10,941 - - 10,941
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of applicable income taxes of $3 - - - - 4,277 - - 4,277
Change in fair value of derivatives, h
net of applicable income tax benefit of $156 - - - - 255 - - 255
Losses reclassified into earnings from
other comprehensive income, net ;
of applicable income 1ax benefit of $45 ; - - - 74 . - - 74
Comprehensive income 60,928
issuance of shares under incentive stock option plan - - 153 - - 19 236 389
Tax benefit refated to employee stock opiions - 18 . - - - 18
Balance, December 27, 2003 40,092 3 401 $ 259110 "% 035495 § (5.586)° S815 594562y 3 814,858

O

See’accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. "




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001

{In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Operating activities: . .
Net income from continuing operations $ 44,221 $ 74,177 3 65,423

Reconciliation of net income from continuing operatlons
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 38,531 36,979 34,539
Amortization ‘ 423 461 4922
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options 18 13,243 356
Deferred income taxes (287) 9,686 15,737
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 3,172 374 526
Minority interest in subsidiaries, net of dividend paid ' (213) 150 (26)
Loss (gain) on disposal of properties . 290 (485) (249)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated subsidiaries 460 - -
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of businesses
acquired: . o
Receivables (35,12%9) 6,021 1,293
Inventories 2,948 (13,744) 13,778
QOther assets 3,240 (4,154) - 1,534
Current liabilities 14,620 3,683 (14,591)
Other liabilities (54) on : (585)
Other, net 1,176 917 (1,204)
Net cash provided by operating activities ' ' 73,416 124,217 121,453
Investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of Utah Railway Company . - 55,403 -
Capital expenditures ' (27,236) (23,265) (46,624)
Acquisition of businesses - (20,457) -
Proceeds from sales of properties - . . 1,412 8,165 2,715
Purchase of Conbraco Industries, Inc. common stock : (10,806) (7,320) -
Escrowed IRB proceeds 449 2,445 (2,515)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (36,181) 14,971 (46,424)
Financing activities:
Repayments of long-term debt ‘ (3,894) (34,119) (65,911)
Acquisition of treasury stock - (14,754) -
Proceeds from the sale of treasury stock 389 3,204 1,729
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - - 10,000

Net cash used in

financing activities (3,505 (45,669) (54,182)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 3,505 719 » (1,084)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents E » 37,235 94,238 19,763
Cash provided by discontinued operations 252 1,501 ' 1,831
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 217,601 121,862 100,268
Cash apd cash equivalents at the end of the year | $ 255,088 $ 217,601 $ 121,862

For supplemental disclosures of cash flow information, see Notes I, 5, 7, and 13.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations

The principal business of Mueller Industries, Inc. is the manufacture and sale of copper tube and fittings;
brass and copper alloy rod, bar, and shapes; aluminum and brass forgings; aluminum and copper impact extrusions;
plastic fittings and valves; refrigeration valves and fittings; fabricated tubular products; and gas valves and
assemblies. The Company markets its products to the HVAC, plumbing, refrigeration, hardware, and other
industries. Mueller's operations are located throughout the United States and in Canada, Mexico, and Great Britain.

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Mueller Industries, Inc. and its majority
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
The minority interest represents separate private ownership of 25 percent of Ruby Hill Mining Company and 19
percent of Richmond-Eureka Mining Company.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when products are shipped. The Company classifies the cost of shipping its product
to customers as a component of cost of goods sold.

Cash Equivalents

Temporary investments with maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. These
investments are stated at cost. At December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, temporary investments consisted of
certificates of deposit, commercial paper, bank repurchase agreements, and U.S. and foreign government securities
totaling $254.9 million and $219.7 million, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company provides an allowance for receivables that may not be fully collected. In circumstances
where the Company is aware of a customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations (i.e., bankruptcy filings or
substantial down-grading of credit ratings), it records a reserve for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the net
recognized receivable to the amount it believes most likely will be collected. For all other customers, the Company
recognizes reserves for bad debts based on its historical collection experience. If circumstances change (i.e., greater
than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial
obligations), the Company’s estimates of the recoverability of amounts due could be reduced by a material amount.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The material component of its U.S.
copper tube and copper fittings inventories is valued on a last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis. Other inventories, including
the non-material components of U.S. copper tube and copper fittings, are valued on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.
Inventory costs include material, labor costs, and manufacturing overhead.

The market price of copper cathode and scrap are subject to volatility. During periods when open market
prices decline below net book value, the Company may need to provide an allowance to reduce the carrying value of
its inventory. In addition, certain items in inventory may be considered obsolete and, as such, the Company may
establish an allowance to reduce the carrying value of those items to their net realizable value. Changes in these
estimates related to the value of inventory, if any, may result in a materially adverse or positive impact on the
Company’s reported financial position or results of operations. The Company recognizes the impact of any changes
in estimates, assumptions, and judgments in income in the period in which it is determined.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of buildings, machinery, and equipment is
provided on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives ranging from 20 to 40 years for buildings and
five to 20 years for machinery and equipment.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents cost in excess of fair values assigned to the underlying net assets of acquired businesses
and, prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other [ntangible
Assets (SFAS No. 142) in 2002, was amortized using the straight-line method over 20 to 25 years. Following the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, amortization of goodwill was discontinued. All other intangible assets are amortized
over their estimated useful lives.

Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is subject to impairment testing which compares carrying values to fair
values and, when appropriate, the carrying value of these assets is required to be reduced to fair value. The
Company performs its annual impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, unless circumstances
dictate more frequent assessments. For testing purposes, the Company uses components of its reporting segments;
components of a segment having similar economic characteristics are combined. No impairment loss resulted from
the 2003 or 2002 tests performed under SFAS No. 142. There can be no assurance that goodwill impairment will
not occur in the future.

Environmental Reserves

The Company recognizes an environmental liability when it is probable the liability exists and the amount is
reasonably estimable. “The Company estimates the duration and extent of its remediation obligations based upon
reports of outside consultants, internal analyses of clean-up costs and ongoing monitoring, communications with
regulatory agencies, and changes in environmental law. If the Company were to determine that its estimates of the
duration or extent of its environmental obligations were no longer accurate, the Company would adjust its
environmental liabilities accordingly in the period that such determination is made.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted
earnings per share reflects the increase in average common shares outstanding that would result from the assumed
exercise of outstanding stock options calculated using the treasury stock method.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized on the difference between the financial statement and the
tax law treatment of certain items. Realization of certain components of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
occurrence of future events. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax asset to the
amount it believes is more likely than not to be realized. These valuation allowances can be impacted by changes in
tax laws, changes to statutory tax rates, and future taxable income levels and are based on the Company’s judgment,
estimates, and assumptions regarding those.future events. In the event the Company were to determine that it would
not be able to realize all or a portion of the net deferred tax assets in the future, the Company would increase the
valuation allowance through a charge to income in the period that such determination is - made. Conversely, if the
Company were to determine that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future, in excess of the net
carrying amounts, the Company would decrease the recorded valuation allowance through an increase to income in
the period that such determination is made.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed
in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB No. 25), and
related Interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation expense is reflected in net income because the
exercise price of the Company’s incentive employee stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock on
the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123), to stock-based employee compensation.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net income $ 45,381 $ 77,992 $ 66,955
SFAS No. 123 compensation expense, net of income taxes (2,028) (2,485) (1,991
SFAS No. 123 pro forma net income $ 43,353 $ 75,507 $ 64,964
Pro forma earnings per share:

Basic $ 1.27 $ 222 3 1.94

Diluted $ 118, § 2.04 $ 1.75
Earnings per share, as reported:

Basic $ 1.32 $ 2.29 $ 2.00

Diluted A 1.23 $ 2.11 $ 1.80

Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are limited due to the large number of
customers comprising the Company’s customer base, and their dispersion across different geographic areas and
different industries, including HVAC, plumbing, refrigeration, hardware, automotive, OEMs, and others.

The Company minimizes its exposure to base metal price fluctuations through various strategies. Generally,
it prices an equivalent amount of copper raw material, under flexible pricing arrangements it maintains with its
suppliers, at the time it determines the selling price of finished products to its customers.

At December 27, 2003, the Company held open forward commitments to purchase approximately
$1.0 million of copper in the next 12 months and approximately $1.0 million of natural gas in the next three months.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company has utilized forward contracts to manage the volatility related to purchases of copper and
natural gas, and sales denominated in foreign currencies. In addition, the Company has reduced its exposure to
increases in interest rates by entering into an interest rate swap contract. These contracts have been designated as
cash flow hedges. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (SFAS No. 133), the Company has recorded the fair value of these
contracts in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The related gains and losses on the contracts are deferred in
stockholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive income. With respect to the copper and natural gas contracts,
deferred gains and losses are recognized in cost of goods sold in the period in which the related sales or consumption
of the commodities are recognized. Deferred gains and losses on foreign currency contracts are recognized in
selling, general, and administrative expense in the period in which the foreign sales are collected. Deferred gain or
loss on the interest rate swap contract is recognized in interest expense in the period in which the related interest
payment being hedged is expensed. To the extent that the changes in the fair value of the contracts do not perfectly
offset the changes in the present value of the hedged transactions, that ineffective portion is immediately recognized
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in earnings. Gains and losses recognized by the Company in 2003 related to the ineffective portion of its hedging
instruments, as well as gains and losses related to the portion of the hedging instruments excluded from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness, were not material to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. Should
these contracts no longer meet hedge criteria in accordance with SFAS No. 133, either through lack of effectiveness
or because the hedged transaction is not probable of occurring, all deferred gains and losses related to the hedge will
be immediately reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings.

The Company primarily executes derivative contracts with major financial institutions. These counterparties
expose the Company to credit risk in the event of non-performance. The amount of such exposure is limited to the
unpaid portion of amounts due to the Company pursuant to terms of the derivative instruments, if any. Although
there are no collateral requirements, if a downgrade in the credit rating of these counterparties occurs, management
believes that this exposure is mitigated by provisions in the derivative arrangements which allow for the legal right of
offset of any amounts due to the Company from the counterparties with any amounts payable to the counterparties by
the Company. As a result, management considers the risk of counterparty default to be minimal.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate
fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments. Using a discounted cash flow analysis, the fair value of
the Company's long-term debt instruments exceeded their carrying value by $1.2 million and $1.0 million at
December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, respectively, based on the estimated current incremental borrowing
rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The fair value of the Company's interest rate swap contract was
approximately $1.0 million at December 27, 2003. This value represents the estimated amount the Company would
need to pay if such contract were terminated before maturity, principally resulting from market interest rate
decreases. The contracted rates on committed forward contracts do not exceed the market rates for similar term
contracts at December 27, 2003. The Company estimates the fair value of contracts by obtaining quoted market
prices.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information about the
financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant
judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the
estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

For foreign subsidiaries, the functional currency is the local currency. Balance sheet accounts are translated
at exchange rates in effect at the end of the year and income statement accounts are translated at average exchange
rates for the year. Translation gains and losses are included in stockholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive
income. Transaction gains and losses included in the Consolidated Statements of Income were not significant.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates, assumptions, and judgments that affect the amounts reported
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No.
149, An Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, in April 2003 and Statement
of Financial Accounting Standard No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of
both Liabilities and Equity, in May 2003, revised Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 132, Employers’
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88 and
106, in December 2003, and revised FASB Interpretation No. 46, Variable Interest Entities, (the Statements). The
provisions of these Statements, which are currently not applicable to the Company, became, or will become, effective
in whole or in part at various times in 2003 and thereafter. These Statements will be considered and adopted, where
and when applicable, by the Company at the appropriate future point in time. None of the Statements had a
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significant effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company reported in the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 2 — Inventories

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Raw material and supplies : ' $ 22260 0§ 2269
Work—injprocess ’ 20,395 21,477
Finished goods 97,892 98,784
Inventories : $ 140,548 $ 142,953

Inventories valued using the LIFO method totaled $34.2 million at December 27, 2003 and $37.2 million at
December 28, 2002. At December 27, 2003, the approximate FIFO cost of such inventories was $42.0 million. At
December 28, 2002, the FIFO cost of inventories approximated the LIFO value.

Note 3 — Property, Plant, and Equipment, Net

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Land and land improvements ’ $ 8753 - § 9,332
Buildings : _ 90,279 86,924
Machinery and equipment 466,006 442,987
Construction in progress - . 16,976 . 13,618

o 582,014 552,861 -

Less accumulated depreciation ' ‘ (236,477) - (200,392)
Property, plant, and equipment, net $ 345537 § 352,469
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Note 4 — Goodwill

Effective at the beginning of 2002, the Company ceased the amortization of goodwill in accordance with
SFAS No. 142. A reconciliation of reported net income and earnings per share to pro forma net income and
earnings per share that would have resulted if SFAS No. 142 had been adopted at the beginning of 2001 is as
follows:

(In thousands, except per share data)

2003 2002 - 2001
Net income ' $ 45381 $ 77992 $ 66,955
Goodwill amortization, net of tax - - 3,849
Pro forma net income o , o $ 45,381 $ 77,992 3 70,804
Pro forma earnings per share: - . .
Basic $ 1.32 $ 2.29 $ 2.12
Diluted $ 123« $ 2.11 $ 1.90
Earnings per share, as reported:
Basic $. 1.32 $ 2.29 $ 2.00
Diluted $ 1.23 $ 211 Ay 1.80
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the year ended December 27, 2003 were as follows:
.(In thousands) S S
o Standard Industrial
Products ‘ Products
Division Division " Total
Balance at December 29, 2001 3 90,249 $ 8,500 $ 98,749
Goodwill acquired during the year 4,610 2,192 6,802
Balance at December 28, 2002 94,859 10,692 105,551
Adjustments to the fair value of businesses acquired during 2002 (789) 87 (702)
Balance at December 27, 2003 3 94,070 $ 10,779 $ 104,849
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Note 5~ Long-Term Debt ‘

(In thousands)’ ) g . - B 2_0@ oo T 2002
2001 Series IRBs with interest at - BT B - ST
6.63%, due 2021 L : S 8710000 8 10,000
1997 Series IRBs with interest at ;- R S e ' . ‘
7.39%, due through 2014 .- - - B X 6,625
Other, including capitalized * : - s ' T T
lease obligations o S o SRR T A It R
, , o , ‘ 14272 . . 18,166
Less current portion of long-term debt : ’ I (2,835). (4,161 -

Long-term debt . L ' ' 0§ 11,437 TS 14,005

The Company has a Credit Agreement (the Agreement) with a syndicate of five banks establishing an
unsecured $150 million revolving credit facility (the Credit Facility) which matures in November 2006. Borrowings - -
under the Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company s option, at (i) LIBOR plus a variable premium or (ii) the
greater of Prime or the Federal Funds rate plus .50 percent. LIBOR advances may be based upon the one, two, three,
or six-month LIBOR. The variable premium over LIBOR is based on certain firiancial ratios, and can range from 35
to 50 basis points. At December 27, 2003, the premium was 35 basis points. Additionally, a facility fee is payable
quarterly on the total commitment and varies from 150 to 250 basis points based upon the Company’s capitalization.
ratio. Availability of funds under the Credit Facility is reduced by the amount of certain outstandmg letters of credit,
which totaled approx1mately $7.2 million at' December 27 2003, ‘

Borrowmgs under the Agreement require- the Company, among other thmgs to. mamtam certain mlmmum
levels of net worth and meet certain mm1mum financial ratios. At December 27, 2003 the Company was in’
compliance with all debt covenants.

Aggregate annual maturities of the Company’s. debt are $2.8 million, $0.2 million, $0.4 million, '
"$0.3 million, and $0.2 million for the years 2004 through 2008 respectively,/and $10.4 miliion thereafter. Interest
paid in 2003, 2002, and 2001 was $1.2 million; $1.6 million, and $5.5 million, respectively. During 2001, the
Company capitalized interest of $1.4 million related to its major capital 1mprovement programs. No interest' was. -
capitalized in 2003 or in 2002. T

The Company'has guarantees which are letters of credit issued by the Company generally to guarantee the
payment of insurance deductibles and retiree health benefits. The-terms of the Company’s guarantees are generally
one year but are renewable annually as required. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company
could be required to make under its guarantees at December 27, 2003 was $7.2 million.

Note 6 — Stockholders’ Eqility

On November 10, 1994, the Company. declared a dividend distribution of one Right for each outstandmg ‘
share of the Company’s common stock. Each Right entitles the holder to purchase one unit consisting of one--
thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $160 per unit, subject to
adjustment. The Rights will not be exercisable, or transferable apart from.the Company’s common stock, until |
10 days following an announcement that a person or affiliated group has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire,
beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of its common stock other than pursuant to certain offers for all shares of
the Company’s common stock that have been determined to be fair to, and in the best interest of, the Company’s -
stockholders. The Rights, which do not have voting rights, will be exercisable by all holders (except for a holder or
affiliated group beneficially owning 15 percent or more of the Company’s common stock, whose Rights will be void)
so that each holder of a Right shall have the right to receive, upon the exercise thereof, at the then current exercise
price, the number of shares of the Company’s common stock having a market value of two times the exercise price of
the Rights. All Rights expire on November 10, 2004, and may be redeemed by the Company at a price of $. 01 at any
time prior to either their expiration or such tlme that the Rights become exermsable

21




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the event that the Compan‘y is acquired in a merger or other business combination, or certain other events
occur, provision shall be made so that each holder of a Right (except Rights previously voided) shall have the right to
receive, upon exercise thereof at the then current -exercise price, the number of shares of common stock of the
surviving company whrch at the time of such transaction would have a market value of two times the exercise price

of the nght

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase until October 2004 of up to ten million
shares of the Company’s common stock through open market transactions or through privately negotiated
transactions. The Company has no obligation to purchase any shares and may cancel, suspend, or extend the time
period for the purchase of shares at any time. Any purchases will be funded primarily through existing cash and cash
from operations. The Company may hold any shares purchased in treasury or use a portion of the repurchased shares

“for employee benefit plans, as well as for other corporate purposes. Through December 27, 2003, the Company had

repurchased approxrmately 2.4 million shares-under this authorization.

Gomponents of accumulated other comprehenswe loss are as follows:

:(ln‘théu'sahds)"_ s - 2003 2002
Cumulative forelgn currency translanon adJ ustment o $ 7,715 $ (3,226)
Minimum | pensron llabllny, net ofmcome tax 3 " ‘ ‘ ) (12,840) L a7
Unrea]lzed derwatrve losses net oflncome tax » :-_ L (461) (790)

' Accumulage}d cher CO”‘PT@W%‘W loss R ‘ $. (5,586) $ .(21,133)

The change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment primarily relates to the Company’s
investment.in its UK. -and Canad1an subsidiaries and flyctuations in exchange rates between their local currencies

- and the U.S. dollar. = - s

Note 7 — ]ncome Taxes

The components ofmcome from contmumg operatlons before income taxes were taxed under the following

Junsdlctlons ) N - : . '
(In thousands) . ‘

2003 2002 2001
Domestic @ .~ . - o $ 160937 & 90667 $ . 114,984
Foreign . ' o e (9.500) 0 (2,200) (10,579)
Income from continuing operattons before income taxes $ 51,436 $ 88,467 + § 104,405
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Income tax expense attributable to continuing operations‘consists of the following:

(fn thousands)
2003 2002 2001
Current tax expense: o » .
Federal Co ' $ 0 4928 S8 6917 % 21532
_“Foreign S , 1,744 287 595
State and local | ‘ 830" 400 1,118
Current tax expense 7,502 7,604 23,245
Deferred tax A(beneﬁt) expense: ) _
 Federal ' ' 504 9,215 15,032
Foreign Co ' (869) 137 (54)
~ Stateandlocal © : ‘ 78 334 759
."Deferred tax (benefit) exﬁense (287) 9,686 15,737
‘ Income tax expense a ‘ g 7,215 $ 17,290 "3 38,982
- U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes are provided on the earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are

expected to be remitted to the extent that taxes on the distribution of such eamings would not be offset by foreign tax
credits. ' ) :

" 7 'The difference between the reported income tax expense and a tax determined by applying the applicable
U.S. federal. statutory income tax rate,to ificome from continuing operations before income taxes. is reconciled as
follows: '

C(nthousands) ..o e o ,
T e oo 2003 2002 2001
Expected income tax expense ‘ . -8 15,003 % 30,964 $ 36,542
State and local income tax,

‘ net of federal benefit . =~ . - . 618 - 594 1,542
Foreign income-taxes * - . o L 220 1,330 3,657
Valuationi allowafice -~~~ T (12,190) (14,928) (284)
Other, net R " 564 (670) (2,475)

Income tax expense _ o . - $ 7,215 $ 17,290 $ 38,982
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give.rise to significant p’oﬁions of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are presented below: :

(In thousands)

2003 ' 2002

Deferred tax assets: ,

Accounts receivable , ' ‘ $ 1,640 3 _ 1,806

Inventories . ‘ 1,523 1,560

Pension, OPEB, and accrued items ' _ 11,103 10,531

Other reserves ’ : 8,035 7,905

Net operating loss carryforwards 10,175 . 22,043

Capital loss carryforwards . 1,780 2,575

Foreign tax credits ~ . 2,119 -

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 4,026 4,026

Other ‘ ‘ 32 398

Total deferred tax assets . V 40,433 50,844
Less valuation allowance : (20,840) . (33,030)
Deferred tax assets, nef of

valuation allowance _ 19,593 | . 17,814
Deferred tax liabilities:- '

Property, plant, and equipment ‘ ; 72,884 70,356

Other ' ' 1,408 2,221
Total deferred tax liabilities . 74,292 72,577
Net deferred tax liability . - ' : 3 (54699 8 (54,763)

As of December 27, 2003, the Company had domestic net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) of
$1.1 million, which expire in 2006. In addition, the Company had alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards of
approximately $4.0 million, which are available to reduce future federal regular income taxes, if any, over an
indefinite period, and capital loss carryforwards totaling $5.1 million, of which $3.8 mllhon explre in 2004, $1.0
million expire in 2005, and $0.3 mllhon expire in 2006. :

As of December 27, 2003, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards (foreign NOLSs)
available to offset $32.7 million of foreign subsidiary income. These foreign NOLs have not been recognized, and
are available to offset foreign subsidiary income over an indefinite period. The disposition of Mueller Europe S.A.
reduced the Companys foreign NOLs in 2002 by $27.9 million, which had been entirely reserved by a valuation
allowance.

During 2003 the Company recognized a deferred income tax benefit, upon the c]osure of the open tax year,
by reducing a valuation allowance of $9.3 million related to an operating loss resulting from the 1999 sale of a
subsidiary. Realization of the tax benefit occurred during the year of sale.

During 2002, the Company realized capital gains totaling approximately $41.4 million, primarily from the
sale of Utah Railway Company. Existing capital loss carryforwards, which for financial reporting purposes were
entirely reserved by a valuation allowance, were used to offset the 2002 capital gains. The income tax benefit of
approximately $14.9 million generated by eliminating this valuation allowance was recognized in 2002 as a reduction
to income taxes provided for continuing operations in accordance with SFAS No. 109. No income tax expense was
included in the operation of discontinued operations in 2003 whereas $2.7 million was inciuded in 2002 and $2.1
million was included in 2001. :
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lncome taxes paid (refunded) were’ apprOXImately $08 mllhon in 2003, $(0. 2) million in 2002, and

$28:3 m1]]10n in 2001.

Note 8- Other Current Liabilities

- Included in other current liabilities were accrued discounts and a]lowances of $24.0 million at December 27,

2003 and $21.2 million at December 28, 2002,

Note 9 - Employee Benefits

The Company sponsors several: qualified and nonqualified pension plans and other postretirement benefit
" plans for certain of its employees. The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans' benefit
obligations” and the ‘fair -value of the plans’ assets over the two-year period ending December 27, 2003, and a

statement of the plans' funded status as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002:

(In thousands) -

" Change in benefit obligation:

~"-Service cost
Interest cost
Participant contributions
Actuanal loss
Benefit payments
Settlement ‘
Foreign currency translation adjustment

o,

Obligation at end of year

_Change in fair value of plan assets:
_Fair value of plan assets at begmmng
. ofyear
Actual return on plan assets-
Employer contributions
Participant contributions
Benefit payments
Settlement-"
Foreign currency translation
adjustrhent A

Fair value'of plan assets at end of year

Funded status? R
Funded (underfunded)
status at erid of year '~
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized loss

Net amount recognized

Pension Benefits

Other Benefits

. Obligation at, begmmng ofyear ‘ .

-8

“$

2003 2002 2003 2002
.$. 120,654 § 103,008 $ 10729. $ .. 8114
1,766 1,354 5 : 5
7,495 - 7,407 694 853
35] 295 - ;
3,766 11,000 146 2,527
(6,234) (6,049) (818) (770)
(67) - - -
4611 3,639 - ;
$ 132342 0§ 120654 $§ 10756 § 10,729
$ 98251 S 112,53 S -8 -
18,535 (13,086) - : .
1,047 1,938 818 770
351 295 ;
(6,234) (6,049) (818) - (770)
67 - - -
3,006 2,590 : -
114889 § 98251 § ERRE ;
(17.453) - $ © (22,403) $ (10,756) 'S (10,729)
2,664 . 3,149 (80) (88)
17,765 24,688 2,817 2,791
$ 2976 $ 5434 $ (8,019 S (8,026)
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The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the
pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $104.6 million, $103.!1 million, and $84.1
million, respectively, as of December 27, 2003, and $93.9 million, $91.8 million, and $70.2 million, respectively, as
of December 28, 2002.

The following table  provides the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002: . .

(In thousands)

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 12002 2003 2002
Prepaid benefit cost $ 8,203 $ 8,967 $ - $ -
Intangible asset - 1,702 - -
Accrued benefit liability ‘ (18,077) (22,365) (8,019 . (8,026)
Accurhulated other comprehensive loss 12,850 17,130 - -
Net amount recognized $ 2976 $ 5434 % (8019 §  (8,026)

The components of net periodic benefit cost (income) are as follows:

(In thousands)

2003 2002 2001
Pension benefits: '
Service cost ’ . . $ 1,766 $ 1,354 $ 1,802
Interest cost ’ : : " 7,495 7,407 7,222
‘Expected return on plan assets (7,724) (9,061) - (9,794)
Amortization of prior service cost ' 49] 856 904
Amortization of net (gain) loss - C 1,327 (714) (1,749)
Net periodic benefit cost (income)‘ h $ 3,355 3 (158)  § (1,615
" Other benefits: :
Service cost ' $ 5 $ ) $ 13
Interest cost : 694 853 702
Amortization of prior service cost & - (8 . )
Amortization of net gain 120 122 -
Curtailment gain ' - - (323)
Net periodic benefit cost _ : -8 811  § 972§ 384

Prior service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of active
participants. Gains and losses in excess of 10 percent of the greater of the benefit obligation and the market-related
value of assets are amortized over the average remaining service period of active participants.
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The assumptions used in the measurement of the Company's benefit obligations are as follows:

_ Pension Benefits - Other Benefits

2003 2002 2003 2002
Weighted average assumptions: - ‘ :
Discount rate ‘ 6.08% 6.42% 6.25% 6.75%
Exbeqtc_d return on plan assets 8.07% - 8.05% N/A N/A
" Rate of compensation increases . 425% 4.00% N/A N/A

The aésixfnptions used in the measurement of the Company's net periodic benefit cost are as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Weighted average assumptions: pee o .
Discount rate . 642% 7.25% 7.17% 6.75%.  6.75%  821%
Expected return on plan assets 8.05% 8.10% 7.96% N/A N/A N/A
Rate'of compensation increases ©~ 4.00% 4.25% 3.25% N/A N/A N/A

Only one pension plan uses the rate of compensation increase in its benefit formula. All other pension plans
are based on length of service. :

“The annual assumed rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered benefits (i.e., health care cost trend
rate) is assumed to range from 7.6 to 10.4 percent for 2003, gradually decrease to 5.5 percent for 2011, and remain at
that level thereafter. The health care cost trend rate assumption has a‘significant effect on the amounts reported. For
example, increasing the assumed health care cost trend rates by one percentage point would increase the accumulated
“postretirement* benefit obligation by $900 thousand and the service and interest cost components of net periodic
postretirement benefit costs by $60 thousand for 2003. Decreasing the assumed health care cost trend rates by one
percentage point in each year would decrease the accumulated postrenremem benefit obligation and the service and -

interest cost components of net perlodlc postrétifement benefit costs for 2003 by $821 thousand and $56 thousand,

respecnvely

The welghted average asset allocatlon of the Company’s pens1on fund assets are as follows:

Pension Plan Assets

Asset Category S R 2003 2002
Equity securities , : : , 71 % 60 %
Index funds o T o 10 , 8
Debt securities J - o ‘ 6 9
Cash and equivalents \ S 2 12
Other » : - . , 11 H
100 % 100 %

The measurement date for the majority of the plans is at year-end.

‘ The Company’s pension plan obligations are long-term in nature and, accordingly, the plan assets are
invested for the long-term. The Company believes that a diversified portfolio of equity securities (both actively
managed and index funds) and private equity funds have an acceptable risk-return profile that, over the long-term, is
better than fixed income securities. Consequently, the pension plan assets are heavily weighted to equity
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investments. Plan assets are monitored periodically. Based upon results, investment managers and/or- asset classes
are redeployed when considered necessary. Expected rates of return on plan assets were determined based on
historical market returns giving consideration to the:composition of each plan’s portfolio.

The plans’ assets do not include investment in securities issued by the Company. The Company expects to
contribute between $1.0 million and $1.5 million to its pension plans and approximately $1.0 million to.its other
postretirement benefit plans in 2004. ‘ R

The Company sponsors voluntary employee savmgs plans that qualify under Section 401(k) of the Intemal
Revenue Code of 1986. Compensation expense for the Company’s matching contribution to the 401(k) plans was
$2.0 million in 2003 and in 2002, and $2.1 miilion in 2001. The Company’s match is a cash contribution.
Participants direct the investment of their account balances by allocatmg among a range of assét classés including
mutual funds (equity, fixed income, and balanced funds), and money market funds. The plans do not offer direct
investment in securities issued by the Company.

In October 1992, the Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 (the Act) was enacted. . The Act
mandates a method of providing for postretirement benefits to UMWA current and retired: employees;: including
some retirees who were never employed by the Company.. In October 1993, beneficiaries were assigned to the
Company and the Company began ‘its mandated contributions to the UMWA Combined. Berefit .Fund, a
multiemployer trust. Beginning in 1994; the Company was required to make contributions for assigned beneficiaries
under an additional multiemployer trust created by the Act, the UMWA 1992 Benefit Plan. The ultimate amount of
the Company’s liability under the Act will vary due to factors which include, among other things, the validity,
interpretation, and regulation of the Act, its joint and several obligation, .the number of valid beneficiaries assigned,
and the extent to which funding for this obligation will be satisfied by transfers of excess assets from the 1950
UMWA pension plan and transfers from the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund. Nonetheless, the Company
believes it has an adequate reserve for this liability which totaled $6.3 million in 2003 and $5.4 million in 2002.

The Company maintains a nonquahf 1ed, deferred compensatlon plan, Wh]Ch permlts cenam management
employees to annual]y elect to defer, on a pretax basis, a portion of their compensatlon The deferred benefit to be
prov1ded is based on the amount of compensation deferred, Company match,.and earnings on the deferrals. During
2001, the Company match was dlscontmued Other expenses associated, with the plan in 2003, 2002 and.2001 were
1n31gn1fcant The Company.has mvested in certain assets to assist in fundmg this.plan. The fair value of these
assets included in other assets, was $6. 7 mllhon at December 27, 2003 and $5.5 million at December 28, 2002

The Company makes contributions to certain multiemployer defined benefit pension plan trusts that cover
union employees based on collective bargaining agreements. Contributions by employees are not required nor are
they permitted. Pension expense under the multiemployer defined benefit pension plans was $0.3 million for 2003,
2002 and 2001.

Note 10'— Commitments and Contingencies

. The Company is subject to environmental standards imposéd by federal, state, local;. and foreign
environmental laws and regulations. The Company has provided and charged to income $1.2 million in 2003, $1.6
million in 2002, and $3.6 million in 2001 for pending environmental matters. The basis for the provision is updated
information and results of ongoing remediation and monitoring programs. Environmental reserves total $9.6 million
in 2003 and $9.1 million in 2002. These projected costs will be. funded in future years as remédiation programs
progress. Management believes that the outcome of pending environmental matters will not materially affect the
financial position or results of operations of the Company.

- The Company.is involved in certain litigation as a result of claims that arose in the ordinary course of
business, which management believes will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations. Additionally, the Company may realize the benefit of certain insurance and legal claims in the
future; these gain contingencies are not recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Company. is aware of investigations of competition in markets in which it participates, or has
participated in the past, in Europe, Canada and the United States. On October 21, 2003, the Company was informed
that the investigations of which it was aware in the Umted States have been closed. On September 1, 2003, the
European Commission released a statement alleging mfrmgements in Europe of competition rules by manufacturers
of copper tubes including the Company and busmesses in France and England, which it acquired in 1997. The
Company took the lead in bringing these issues to the attention of the European Commission and has fully
cooperated in the resulting investigation from its inception. The Company does not anticipate any material adverse
effect on its business or financial posrtron as a result of the European Commission's action or other investigations.

The Company leases certain facilities and equipment- under operating leases expiring on various dates
through-2011. The lease payments under these agreements aggregate to approximately $6.6 million in 2G04, $4.6
million in 2005, $3.8 million in 2006, $3.1 million in 2007, $2.5. million in 2008, and $1.8 million thereafter. Total
lease expense amounted to $7.0 million in 2003, $10.6 million in 2002, and $8.8 million in 2001.

Note 11 — Other Income, net

(In thousands) ~ * 2003 2002 2001

Rent and royalties - . _ 8 2,821 $ 2,364 8 686
Interest income o 2,466 3,111 ‘ 4,826
{Loss) gain on disposal of properties, net ' ’ (290) 485 249
Minority interest in income of subsidiaries . (152) (150 - 26
Equity in loss of unconsolidated subsidiary . - (460) - -
Other income, net $ 4,385 3 5,810 $ 5,787

Note 12 - Stock Options

The Company follows APB No. 25 in accounting for its' employee stock options. Under APB No. 25, no
compensation expense is recognized because the exercise pnce of the Company’s incentive employee stock options
equals the market price of the underlymg stock on the date of grant.

Under existing plans, the Company may grant options to purchase shares of common stock at prices not less
than the fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant. Generally, the options vest annually in equal
increments over a five-year period beginning one year from the date of the grant. Any unexercised options expire
after not more than ten years. No options may be granted after ten years from the date of plan adoption.

' Additionally, the Company has granted .stock options to key executives as.retention incentives and
inducements to enter into employment agreements with the Company.- Generally, these special grants have terms and-
conditions similar to those granted under the Company s other stock optron plans.

The income tax benef t assocrated with the exercise of stock options reduced income taxes payable,
classified as other current:liabilities, by $18 thousand in 2003, $13.2 million in 2002, and $0.4 million in 2001. Such
benefits are reflected as addmons directly to additional paid-in caprtal and, therefore have no effect on the Company
earnings. : , .
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A summary of the Company's stock option activity and related-information follows:

(Shares in thousands) ,
‘ ' Weighted Average

,Optioné _ Exercise Price
Outstanding at December 30, 2000 v L Co © 5,022 $ 7.22
Granted | I 2943
Exercised (120) 17.55
Expired, cancelled, or surrendered . {42) 26.03
Outstanding at December 29, 2001 4,936 7.15
Granted ‘ : 261 31.79
Exercised . - {(1,255). , 2.80
Expired, cancelled, or surrendered 2n --30.39
Qutstanding at December 28, 2002 - 3,921 10.06
Granted ' ) : 281 © 2566
Exercised ; (24) 21.78
Expired, cancelled, or surrendered =~ (53) 28.92
Outstanding at December 27, 2003 4,125 - v 10.82
Options exercisable at: : - S .
December 29, 2001 R s 44620 8 524
December 28, 2002 S . » o o 3410 . . 7124

December 27,2003 - ‘ S 355 - 83

Exercisé prices for stock options outstainding at December 27, 2003, ranged from $2.06'to $37.04. Of the
4.1 million.stock options.outstanding at year-end, 2.4 million were owned by the Chairman of the Company's’Board
of Directors, Mr. Harvey L. Karp, and expire one year after Mr. Karp’s’ separation “from -employment with the
Company. Mr. Karp’s options have an exercise price of $2.06 per share. The weighted average remaining life of the
remaining 1.7 million shares is 5.5 years, and the weighted average exercise price of these shares is $22.99. The
weighted average fair value per option granted was $10.06 in 2003, $12.49 in 2002, and $13.58 in 2001.

Mr. Karp exercised options to purchase 1.2 million shares of Company stock during 2002 and none during
2003. As provided in Mr. Karp’s option agreement, the Company withheld the number of shares, at their fair market
value, sufficient to cover the minimum withholding taxes incurred by the exercise. These shares withheld have been
classified as acquisition of treasury stock in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of December 27, 2003, the Company had reserved 2.4 million shares of its common stock for issuance

pursuant to certain stock option plans. Additionally, the Company had reserved 15 thousand shares of preferred
stock for issuance pursuant to the shareholder rights plan.
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Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123, and has
been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method. The
fair value for these options at the date of grant was estimated using the following- welghted average assumptions for
the years 2003, 2002, and 2001 weighted average expected ‘life- of the opnons of six . years; and no dividend
payments. The weighted average risk free ‘interest rate used-in the model was 3:81 percent for 2003, 3.44 percént for
2002, and 4.67 percent for 2001. The volatility factor of the expected market value ofthe Company s common stock
wasO33lm 2003;0.344 in 2002 and04l8m 2001: o

. . . N -1

The pro forma*® mformatmn was determined usmg the 'Black- Scholes optlon valuation model. Optlon
valuation models require highly subjective assumptions -including the - expected stock price volatility. Because the
Company’s employee stock options have-characteristics significantly- different from those of traded options, and
because changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the fairvatue estimate, in management s'opinion,
the exnstmg models do not necessanly provxde a rellable smgle measure of the fair Value of ns employee stock
options. : - S

For purposes of pro forma dlsclosures the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over
the options' vesting periods. The Company's pro forma information’ is -included in ‘the: Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies. '
Note 13 - Acqulsmons .

On September 27, 2002, the Company acquired certain assefs of Colonial Engmeermg, Inc.'s Fort Pierce,
Florida operations. These operations manufacture injected molded plastic pressure fittings for plumbing, agricultural,
and industrial use including a line of PVC Schedule 40 and 80°and CPVC fittings. These operanons genérated sales
ofapprommately $15 million in 2001. The purchase price was approximately $14. 1 million.

On August 21, 2002, the Company'acquired 100 percent of the outstanding stock of Overstreet-Hughes,
Co., Inc. Overstreet-Hughes, located in Carthage, Tennessee, manufactures precision tubular components and
assembhes primarily for the OEM air-conditioning | market and had sales in 2001 of approximately $8 million. Total
consideration paid at closing, including assumption of debt, was approximately $6.3 million. A contmgent payment
of up to $2 million will be paid if certain ﬁnanc1al tatgets are achieved.

"Both ofthe acquisitions were accountéd for using the purchase method of accounting. Therefore, the results
of operations of the acquiredbusinesses were included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements -from
their respective acquisition dates. The purchase price for these acquisitions, which was financed by avallable cash
balances, has been allocated to the assets of the acquired businesses based on their reSpectwe falr market values

The final assessment of fair values of the assets and liabilities. associated with the 2002 acqu1smons was '
-completed dunng 2003. The determinatior of-firial fair values resulted in adjustments from initially recorded values.
These adjustments increased working capital by $0.6 million, increased other assets by $2.0 million, and decreased
goodwill by $0.8 million. The total fair value of assets acquired in 2002 was $23.6 million, and the’ fair value of .
liabilities assumed in 2002 was $1.9 million. The excess of the purchase price over the net assets acqutred in-2002
was $6.1 million. : f

During 2002, the Company acquired an equity interest in Conbraco Industries, Inc. for $7.3 million in cash;
early in 2003, the Company acquired an additional interest for $10.8 million. Conbraco is a manufacturer of flow
control products including ball valves, automation products, backflow preventers, butterfly vaives, check valves,
forged steel products, marine valves, safety relief valves, strainers and .plumbing and’ heating -producits- for
commercial and industrial applications. The Company’s interest totaled 39 percent of Conbraco’s equity at
December 27, 2003. This investment-is atcounted for by the ‘equity method of accountmg, and' 1s included in the
other assets classification in thé Consolidated Balance Sheet. . - -

RO
b
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Note 14 4"‘D'isqontin ued Operations

‘ On August 28, 2002, the Company completed the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary, Utah Railway
Company, to Genessee & Wyoming Inc. Proceeds from the.sale were approximately $55.4 million. The Company
recogmzed a gam of $21.1.million (net of income taxes of $11.6 million) from the sale.

" In December 2002, the Company initiated a plan to sell or 1iqu1date its French manufacturing operations,
‘Mueller Europe S. A. A loss of $13.4 million was recognized to write-down this operation to its net realizable value.
This loss is net. of a $15.2 million income tax benefit related to the operation's cumulative losses. previously
unrecognized for tax purposes. Included in the loss is a provision to expense the cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustment of $2.5 million, which was previously recognized as.a component of other comprehensive
loss.. Major components of this operation included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 28, 2002 were
current. assets of $6 3 million and current liabilities of $6.0,million. On March 3, 2003, Mueller Europe S.A. filed a
petition for hquldatlon with the Commercial Court of Provins Province, France and on March 4, 2003 the Court
declared the entity to be in liquidation. The disposition of remaining assets and obligations of Mueller Europe S.A. is
under the jurisdiction of the Court. In 2003, the Company recognized operating losses from discontinued operations
incurred by Mueller Europe S.A. for the period the business operated.

. The Company expects no further obligations or contingencies from these discontinued operations and,
therefore, during 2003 it recognized a $1.7 million gain to reflect adjustments to the previous estimates .on
disposition. Operating results of both businesses; net of applicable income taxes, are included in the Consolidated
Statements of Income classified as income (oss) from operation of discontinued operations.

dperating results of discontinued operations were as follows:

(In thousands) : o . , 2003 ‘ 2002 . 2001
Net sales: ‘ ‘ ‘ '
‘Utah Railway Company B s - % 15394 § 23,399
Mueller Europe S.A. o 2323 49767 . 59,940

$ 2,323 $ 65,161 . § 83,339

Intome (loss) before-income taxes: o
“Utah Railway Company’ ' o .8 -8 7,482  § 5,502

Muelier Europe S.A. o ’ (539) © (5,682) . (1,915
' ' ‘ % (539) " $ 1,800 $ 3,587

- Neti mcome (loss): . ‘ A . ‘
UtahRallwayCompany . 8 - .3 4,812 $ . 3,465

" Muellér Europe S.A. ‘ ‘ : . (539) (5698 (1,933)
o 3 (539) $ . (886) § - 1,532

the 15— Industry Segments
. The ‘Company s report.ablevsegments lincl\ude its Standard Products Division (SPD) and its Industrial
Products Division (IPD). These segments are classified primarily by the markets for thelr products. Performance of

segments is generally evaluated by their operatmg income.

SPD manufactures copper tube and fittings, plastic fittings, and line sets, These products are manufactured
in the U.S. and Europe and are sold primarily to wholesalers. ' :
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IPD manufactures brass rod, impact extrusions, and forgings as well as a variety of end-products including
plumbing brass; automotive components; valves and fittings; and specialty copper, copper-alloy, and aluminum
tubing. These products are sold primarily to OEM customers.

Summarized segment and geographic information is shown in the following tables. Geographic sales data
~indicates the location from which products are shipped. Unallocated expenses include general corporate-expenses,
" plus certain charges or credits not included in segment activity. Certain expenses related primarily to retiree benefits
at inactive operations were formerly combinéd with the operations of Utah Railway Company under a third industry
segment, Other Businesses. Following the sale of Utah Railway Company and its classification as discontinued
operations, these expenses of inactive operations have been combined into the unallocated expenses classification. In
addition, the operations of Mueller Europe S.A. are classn"ed as discontinued operations and have been eliminated
from the operating resuits of SPD.

Worldwide sales to one customer from the Standard Products Division totaled $111.0 million in 2003,
~ $101.0 million in 2002, and $97.2 million in 2001, which represented 11 percent in 2003 and in 2002, and 10 percent

in 2001 of the Company's consohdated net sales. No other customer accounted for more than 10 percent of
consolidated net sales. :
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Segment Information:

(In thousands)

Net sales:
Standard Products Division
Industrial Products Division

Elimination of intersegment sales

Depreciation and amortization:
Standard Products Division
Industrial Products Division
General corporate

Operating income:
Standard Products Division
Industrial Products Division
Unallocated expenses

Expenditures for long-lived assets:
Standard Products Division

Industrial Products Division

Segment assets:
Standard Products Division
Industrial Products Division
General corporate

Geographic Information:
(In thousands)

Net sales:
United Sates
Foreign

Long-lived assets:
United Sates
Foreign
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2003 2002 2001
717,606 679,264 721,520
292,008 279,591 251,747
(10,536) (5,872) (4,161)
999,078 952,983 969,106
26,038 24,975 27,588

11,023 10,539 10,098
1,893 1,926 1,775
38,954 37,440 39,461
54,123 78,964 104,603
11,672 20,353 17,469
(16,411) (13,561) (16,543)
49,384 85,756 105,529
21,465 27,400 33,902
5,623 11,558 10,379
27,088 38,958 44281
594,236 594,516 604,099
159,303 171,315 158,659
301,645 222,116 153,307
1,055,184 987,947 916,065
2003 2002 2001

895,994 870,457 % 881,357

103,084 82,526 87,749

999,078 952,983  $ 969,106

437,182 443295 $ 451,231
47.647 44305 60,921

484,829 487,600 $ 512,152
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Note 16 — Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth

(In thousands, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2003
Net sales § 232,022 $ 248,221 § 251,083 $ 267,782
Gross profit (1) 40,107 44,760 49,093 49,269
Income from continuing operations 4,460 8,979 19,737 11,045
Loss from operations of

discontinued operations, net of tax (539) - - -
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations, net of tax - - 1,699 -
Net income 3,921 8,979 21,436 11,045
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

From continuing operations 0.13 0.26 0.58 0.32

From discontinued operations (0.02) - - -

From sale of discontinued operations - - 0.05 -
Basic earnings per share 0.11 0.26 0.63 0.32
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

From continuing operations 0.12 0.24 0.53 0.30

From discontinued operations (0.01H) - - -

From sale of discontinued operations - - 0.05 -
Diluted earnings per share 0.11 0.24 0.58 0.30
2002
Net sales $ 249,053 $ 260,507 $ 227,294 § 216,129
Gross profit (1) 57,247 59,156 50,992 40,807
Income from continuing operations 17,865 18,716 25,822 8,774
Income (loss) from operations of

discontinued operations, net of tax 71 (251) (313) (393)
Gain (loss) on disposition of

discontinued operations, net of tax - - 21,123 (13,422)
Net income (loss) 17,936 18,465 46,632 (5,041)
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

From continuing operations 0.54 0.55 0.75 0.25

From discontinued operations - (0.01) (0.01) (0.01)

From sale of discontinued operations - - 0.62 (0.39)
Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.54 0.54 1.36 (0.15)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

From continuing operations 0.48 0.50 0.70 0.24

From discontinued operations - - - 0.01)

From sale of discontinued operations - - 0.57 0.37)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.48 0.50 1.27 (0.14)
(1) Gross profit is net sales less cost of goods sold, which excludes depreciation and

amortization.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Stockholders of Mueller Industries, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mueller Industries, Inc. as of
December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 27, 2003. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit fo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial. statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidatg(:d financial position of Mueller Industries, Inc. at December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 27,
2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets in 2002.

| ézvmt ¥ MLLP
Memphis, Tennessee :

January 30, 2004
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